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● (0845)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. Ron McKinnon (Coquitlam—Port Coquit‐

lam, Lib.)): I call this meeting to order.

Welcome, everyone, to meeting number 60 of the House of Com‐
mons Standing Committee on Public Safety and National Security.

We will start by acknowledging that we are meeting on the tradi‐
tional, unceded territory of the Algonquin people.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
the House order of June 23, 2022. Members are attending in person
in the room and remotely using the Zoom application. I would like
to make a few comments for the benefit of witnesses and members.

For those participating by video conference, click on the micro‐
phone icon to activate your mike, and please mute yourself when
you're not speaking. The chair takes particular note of that, because
the chair fails to do this all the time. For interpretation, those on
Zoom have the choice at the bottom of their screens of “floor”,
“English” or “French”. Those in the room can use the earpiece and
select the desired channel. I remind you that all comments should
be addressed through the chair.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Friday, February 3, 2023, the committee resumes its
study of the effects of the withdrawn amendments G-4 and G-46 to
Bill C-21, an act to amend certain acts and to make certain conse‐
quential amendments regarding firearms.

I would now like to welcome our witnesses.

We have two panels of witnesses today. In accordance with the
committee's routine motion concerning connection tests for wit‐
nesses, I am informing the committee that all witnesses have com‐
pleted the required connection tests in advance of the meeting.

For the first hour, we have, from Alberta's Chief Firearms Office,
Dr. Teri Bryant, chief firearms officer; from the National Associa‐
tion of Women and the Law, Suzanne Zaccour, head of feminist law
reform; from the Ending Violence Association of Canada, Erin
Whitmore, executive director; and from Danforth Families for Safe
Communities, Ken Price and Noor Samiei, who are members.

Welcome to all. I will give each group up to five minutes for an
opening statement, and then we will proceed with rounds of ques‐
tions.

I will now invite Dr. Bryant to make an opening statement.

Please go ahead. You have five minutes.

[Translation]

Dr. Teri Bryant (Chief Firearms Officer, Alberta Chief
Firearms Office): Hello ladies and gentlemen. Thank you for hav‐
ing me today.

[English]

As Alberta's chief firearms officer, I have a dual mandate to su‐
pervise Firearms Act licensing in Alberta, as other CFOs do, but al‐
so to work relentlessly for a more principled firearms program in
Canada.

Since assuming this role, I have made safety number one. This
means rejecting trendy solutions and focusing on the work that will
truly make a difference. Part of that work is ensuring that responsi‐
ble, law-abiding firearms owners in Alberta understand all the laws
and regulations they face.

I, therefore, regularly engage with members of Alberta's vibrant
firearms community. In 2021-22 alone, I attended well over 50
events and met with thousands of Albertans. Time and again, I hear
that confidence in Canada's firearms control system has eroded.
That confidence is an essential element in building safer communi‐
ties. If we want people to go beyond legal minimums and proac‐
tively contribute to public safety, they must feel heard and respect‐
ed.

Even after the withdrawal of G-4 and G-46, Bill C-21 continues
to undermine confidence in our firearms control system while con‐
tributing nothing to reducing the violent misuse of firearms. Bill
C-21 is built on a fundamentally flawed premise. Prohibiting spe‐
cific types of firearms is not an effective way of improving public
safety. It will waste billions of taxpayer dollars that could have
been used on more effective approaches, such as the enforcement of
firearms prohibition orders, reinforcing the border or combatting
the drug trade and gang activity.

The ban on most handgun transfers and the order in council pro‐
hibitions of May 2020 have had a devastating impact on the assets
of hundreds of thousands of Canadians. With strokes of a pen, bil‐
lions of dollars' worth of legally acquired property was rendered
unsaleable.

The scope of Bill C-21 is absurdly broad. The ban on handgun
transfers includes even single-shot muzzleloading flintlocks and
percussion revolvers and pistols, as well as precious historical arti‐
facts and family heirlooms.
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The loss of the sales of handguns and, potentially, almost all pop‐
ular modern rifle designs threatens the survival of many multi-gen‐
erational family firearms businesses. Gun shows, which are often a
major social event and economic contributor in struggling small
communities, are also being hard hit. The survival of many long-
established reputable shooting sports has been threatened. The
competitions put on by these organizations bring visitors that sup‐
port the economic viability of small communities. Without new en‐
trants, these sports will atrophy and die.

Over time, Bill C-21's prohibitions will also undermine the eco‐
nomic viability of the shooting ranges Canadians rely on for a safe,
well-regulated place to shoot. These ranges are not only where
hunters go to sight in their hunting rifles, but also where police and
others who require firearms for their jobs go to train.

Many things could have been done to lessen the collateral dam‐
age of Bill C-21. The firearms targeted for prohibition could have
been made restricted and their numbers capped, or if these guns are
prohibited, the cost to the taxpayer and the impact on property
rights could be reduced by grandfathering them and allowing full
transferability among licensed Canadians. Shooting sports could
have been safeguarded by allowing the chief firearms officer of
each province to designate which sport shooting organizations in
his or her province can write letters allowing carefully vetted indi‐
viduals access to sporting exemptions.

Provisions could also have been included to address the real is‐
sues around illegal firearms; 3-D printing alone could easily supply
the entire demand for illegal firearms across Canada before long.
Regulating 3-D printing without destroying new industries like
video game development will require new and smarter approaches.

The fact that Bill C-21 does not include any such damage reduc‐
tion measures reinforces the conclusion that the goal of this bill is
demonstratively not about public safety, but an attempt to destroy
long-established communities of law-abiding firearms owners
across the country by targeting their property. These are the people
who perform a vital public service by socializing new firearms
owners into responsible firearms use. They are the allies, not the
enemies of public safety.

I urge you to recommend the withdrawal of Bill C-21 in its en‐
tirety, or to at least allow amendments to reduce its collateral dam‐
age. Strengthening public safety is hard enough. Please don't allow
Bill C-21 to make it harder.
[Translation]

Thank you. I'm happy to take your questions.
● (0850)

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Bryant.

I now invite Ms. Whitmore and Ms. Zaccour to make an opening
statement.

Please go ahead for five minutes.
Dr. Erin Whitmore (Executive Director, Ending Violence As‐

sociation of Canada, National Association of Women and the
Law): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the committee for this opportunity to speak with
you today.

I'm Erin Whitmore, the executive director of the Ending Violence
Association of Canada, a national non-profit organization that
works closely with provincial and territorial organizations that sup‐
port survivors of gender-based violence, including sexual assault
centres, shelters and community-based services.

I am co-presenting today with my colleague, Suzanne Zaccour,
head of feminist law reform with the National Association of Wom‐
en and the Law. Both of our organizations are participating today as
representatives of #Women4GunControl or #FemmesContreLesVio‐
lencesArmées, a coalition of over 30 women's and feminist organi‐
zations from all regions across the country calling for a ban on as‐
sault-style firearms.

This week, for International Women’s Day, we released an open
letter to all party leaders and members of this committee urging that
a permanent and comprehensive ban on assault-style firearms be
enshrined in the Criminal Code. We want to take this opportunity to
remind the committee of the significance of Bill C-21 and its
amendments to our collective efforts to minimize and prevent the
harms caused by guns in situations of family, domestic and sexual
violence. Banning assault-style firearms will increase community
safety and reduce gender-based violence.

However, we are concerned that the opportunity before this com‐
mittee to strengthen public safety and to prevent firearm-related vi‐
olence—including femicide, family violence and mass shootings—
is being lost in the current climate of emotional and partisan debate.

As representatives of organizations that work closely with sur‐
vivors of all forms of gender-based violence, we see first-hand that
gun violence takes many forms and plays out in distinct ways in the
lives of women and children. Gun violence against women and
girls can and does include femicide, but guns are also used as tools
to threaten, intimidate, control, terrorize and physically assault
women and girls. The use of a gun is one of the many tactics by
some abusers to make it increasingly difficult and extremely dan‐
gerous for a woman to not comply with an abuser’s demands or to
leave the situation.

Statistics Canada data show that in 2021 almost one-quarter of
the 197 women homicide victims were killed by shooting, and
women accounted for 84% of the 803 victims of firearm-related in‐
timate partner violence.
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In the dynamics of an abusive intimate partner relationship, we
know that the presence of any make or model of gun is a significant
risk factor for more severe forms of violence and death. When that
gun is an assault-style firearm—that is, a firearm designed for mili‐
tary or tactical use with the capacity to inflict significant lethality
and harm—the potential of these individual acts of violence to es‐
calate to mass shootings involving the broader community, and tar‐
geting women in particular, has already been demonstrated too
many times.

In today's climate of increased anti-feminist sentiment and other
forms of hate and racism, which have fuelled previous mass shoot‐
ings, the need for a ban on assault-style firearms has never been
more pressing. The risks are simply too great to ignore.

Provisions in other parts of the bill make important interventions
that have the potential to better protect those at risk or currently ex‐
periencing family and domestic violence. The National Association
of Women and the Law has previously submitted a brief to this
committee, endorsed by 14 organizations, with recommendations to
further strengthen these aspects of the bill.

Today, in solidarity with 32 women's and feminist organizations,
we want to make clear that inclusion of the amendments that define
and permanently ban assault-style weapons is an equally crucial
step in mitigating current and future harm in the lives of women,
children and communities.

Bill C-21 alone will not end gender-based violence. Greater in‐
vestments in prevention measures are needed and are just as press‐
ing as this current legislation. However, we are at a critical moment
in choosing what steps we are willing to take as a country to ensure
that we are doing all that we can to prioritize women's right to live
safely without the threat and fear of gun violence.

On behalf of 32 organizations who have joined the #Women4‐
GunControl coalition, we urge the committee and government to
move forward with this legislation, including an evergreen defini‐
tion and a permanent ban on assault-style firearms.
● (0855)

Gender-based violence involving guns is a terrifying and deadly
problem in Canada. In supporting legislation that includes an ever‐
green definition and a permanent ban on assault-style firearms,
members of this committee will be acting to reduce gun violence
and save lives as the 32 organizations that have joined the #Wom‐
en4GunControl coalition and a strong majority of Canadians want
you to do.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

I will now invite Mr. Price and Ms. Samiei to make an opening
statement.

Please go ahead for five minutes.
Ms. Noor Samiei (Member, Danforth Families for Safe Com‐

munities): Mr. Chair and members of the committee, on July 22,
2018, what started off as a night of excitement in celebrating my
18th birthday ended in sheer horror and misery. It has been almost
five years since the Danforth shooting, and I still struggle to find

the words to speak about what my friends and I experienced that
night.

We were robbed of our innocence that day. We lost our sense of
safety, security, trust and faith in society, but the most painful part
of all was losing our best friend: Reese Fallon.

We didn't only lose Reese that day. We lost all the precious mo‐
ments and milestones of life that she looked forward to the most.
Reese will never be able to get married, have kids or live out her
dream of being a nurse. Everything was taken from her in a matter
of minutes, and all we were doing was eating ice cream out on a
summer night.

Another precious life lost that evening was that of 10-year-old
Julianna Kozis. While I did not know Julianna personally, her fami‐
ly shared stories of her pure, kind and loving heart. Julianna's lega‐
cy is kept alive through the kindness she embodied in life.

While this was an uncontrollable event, the only control we have
is fighting for change. Today, I sit alongside Ken Price, Claire
Smith, Samantha Price and Ali Demircan, all members of Danforth
Families for Safe Communities.

No one ever deserves to experience what we went through that
night. This is why legislation is vital and crucial. I don't want any
more thoughts and prayers. I want policy and action. We hold a re‐
sponsibility to ensure that no one experiences the pain and sorrow
that we do.

Unfortunately, we learned the grave effects of a mass shooting.
The Danforth shooting has left an everlasting impact on Reese's
and Julianna's friends, family and community as a whole. To those
who have tried to minimize this grief to defend their position, just
know that gun violence is felt widely, deeply and profoundly, and it
does not just simply go away.

Mr. Ken Price (Member, Danforth Families for Safe Commu‐
nities): Our presence here today is a reminder of what happens
when guns are used for violent ends. Knowing what we have expe‐
rienced, we're here to urge you to put safety at the centre of your
decision-making. There is evidence of a proliferation of powerful,
rapid-fire, quick-loading weapons, and these have been used for vi‐
olence among the citizens that this government must help to pro‐
tect.
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We recognize other stakeholders in this debate. Hunting, warding
off pests on farms and most sport shooting are legitimate activities,
but “reasonable for use” is the key phrase in the law guiding the
availability and classification of firearms for private owners. Rec‐
ognizing the lethal power of all guns, that should mean asking first
why a particular gun is needed to accommodate an activity, not just
letting industry and enthusiasm push new weapons into the mix.
Permit firearms cautiously, because, as has been noted, any gun can
be a weapon, and the more powerful, the more lethal.

The government has taken steps in the past in the law to protect
the public from categories of weapons. The risk outweighed the
utility, and we must now recognize and mitigate the unacceptable
risks we face in current times, enabled by modern handguns and as‐
sault-style rifles.

We support Bill C-21. It is wide-reaching and is not just about
gun bans, because addressing gun violence needs a multi-faceted
approach. Bill C-21 does modernize gun control to reflect that in
the last 25 years or so we added a bunch of assault-style rifles and
allowed a million handguns into the hands of private owners, and
that even with higher levels of training and scrutiny for those we
restricted, and sometimes because we didn't restrict them, the avail‐
ability of these guns has contributed to poorer public safety out‐
comes.

We have followed the debate on Bill C-21. We think the legisla‐
tion could be improved in some areas, and we've made prior com‐
ments on that, but as G-4 and G-46 have been debated, we support
the idea of a legally enshrined definition of what an assault-style ri‐
fle is, and a lawful ceiling would be clearer for stakeholders. Rely‐
ing solely on the Governor in Council has led to obvious inconsis‐
tency and has permitted a proliferation of guns used in some of the
most notorious shootings in Canada.

What the latest StatsCan report on gun violence in 2021 said to
us is that, while we dither, more preventable deaths have occurred.
The problem is still significant. It is national and it is more pro‐
found than in countries worth benchmarking. Let's get G-4 and
G-46 and other amendments into the bill, and let's get Bill C-21
passed.

Time is of the essence. Thank you for your attention to this com‐
plex and important issue, and thank you for including us today.
● (0900)

The Chair: Thanks to all of you for your opening remarks.

We'll start our questioning now with Mr. Lloyd.

Mr. Lloyd, please go ahead for six minutes.
Mr. Dane Lloyd (Sturgeon River—Parkland, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all the witnesses for coming here today.

My first question is for the National Association of Women and
the Law.

In your email or letter that you sent to us on March 7, you said
that the presence of firearms in a household where there is intimate
partner violence significantly increases the risk that women will be
killed. At face value I accept that argument. However, there is no

evidence to suggest that merely owning a firearm makes somebody
more likely to commit an act of intimate personal violence. Isn't
that correct? Is there any evidence? I don't see any compelling evi‐
dence to suggest that.

Ms. Suzanne Zaccour (Head of Feminist Law Reform, Na‐
tional Association of Women and the Law): Thank you, Mr.
Chair, for the opportunity to answer the question.

It's important to know that intimate partner violence is often not
reported. It's often invisible. Coercive control is not necessarily
even criminalized. It's not that simple to say that it's only where
there is intimate partner violence that a gun is dangerous, because it
is difficult or perhaps impossible to know in advance in which fam‐
ilies there will be intimate partner violence and—

Mr. Dane Lloyd: I appreciate that, and I really appreciate what
you said about preventative, because we know in cases where there
is femicide, you wouldn't say that's the first thing that happens.
There are lots of warning signs that lead up to that happening. Isn't
that true? This isn't something that just happens and there were no
warning signs leading up to it. This is something where there is a
long trail of events leading up to these things oftentimes. Isn't that
correct?

Dr. Erin Whitmore: I can answer that question. Thank you for
that.

Certainly in some cases there are warning signs, but unfortunate‐
ly, we really are lacking in strong data to fully understand the inter‐
section of intimate partner violence and firearms in women's lives.
The evidence we do have, though, indicates that there is an in‐
creased risk for extreme forms of violence and death. For the mem‐
bers of our coalition, this is enough evidence to support the imple‐
mentation of this legislation.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Thank you for that.

My next question is for Dr. Bryant.

We already have a classification system in Canada. We have non-
restricted. We have restricted. There are prohibited firearms.

Isn't it true, Dr. Bryant, that every single firearm that is used by
civilians in Canada has to be approved by the RCMP? Isn't that cor‐
rect, Dr. Bryant?

● (0905)

Dr. Teri Bryant: I believe so, yes.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: For some people to say that these firearms, se‐
mi-automatic hunting rifles and shotguns, are not legitimate for
civilian use, the RCMP has approved these for legitimate civilian
use. Is that correct?

Dr. Teri Bryant: In fact, in the case of many restricted firearms,
the individual was specifically authorized to require that specific
firearm for a sporting purpose.
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Mr. Dane Lloyd: That's interesting.

Dr. Bryant, I believe we already have an evergreen definition in
Canada. As we said, we have non-restricted. We have restricted. We
have prohibited. These are based on the functional capabilities of
the firearms—wouldn't you say? It's not based upon how the
firearm looks. It's based on what the firearm is capable of. Isn't that
correct?

Dr. Teri Bryant: There is certainly an element of that, although I
think there are a great many logical inconsistencies in the way we
have categorized, particularly the definition between, for example,
restricted and prohibited firearms. Many of those are more a matter
of historical accident and political compromises than any actual in‐
tent.

There are firearms that are completely useless for any violent
purpose but are categorized in the highest category. What I am say‐
ing is that, in general, there are many things that are put into the
higher categories that probably shouldn't be there.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Would you say in your experience that, when
the RCMP is reviewing a firearm to be classified in Canada, in al‐
most all cases they probably err on the side of being more restric‐
tive or less restrictive in their classification of those firearms?

Dr. Teri Bryant: I would say overall it's much more restrictive.
Mr. Dane Lloyd: Okay.

When we're talking about the evergreen definition that the Liber‐
als put forward in the amendments we're discussing today, semi-au‐
tomatic centrefire rifles and shotguns that have the capability of ac‐
cepting a magazine over five cartridges for the type that the gun
was originally designed for, in your vast experience with firearms,
this amendment would cover a wide variety of commonly used
hunting rifles and shotguns. Isn't that correct?

Dr. Teri Bryant: I believe so, yes. In fact, for people who want
an example, I have a model 1907 Winchester that was designed in
1907 and produced from 1907 on. It had a five-shot capacity, but
later some magazines were made that did have higher capacities.
This gun, which was explicitly designed for medium game shoot‐
ing, like deer, well over a hundred years ago, could well be cov‐
ered.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Do you think that, as some people have said,
concerns about these Liberal amendments and their impact on hunt‐
ing rifles and shotguns were an act of blatant disinformation? Was
it disinformation to say that these amendments would ban legiti‐
mately used hunting rifles and shotguns?

Dr. Teri Bryant: I do not believe that it was disinformation to
state that. I believe it was simply a matter of fact. Many firearms I
know—I, personally, have friends who have used them for deer
hunting for many years—would be covered.

Mr. Dane Lloyd: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Lloyd. You had four seconds left.

We'll go now to Mr. Erskine-Smith for six minutes, please.
Mr. Nathaniel Erskine-Smith (Beaches—East York, Lib.):

Thanks, Ron.

Noor, thanks for the testimony. I can't imagine. Having been
close to it in my own way, but not nearly as close as you were, I

can't imagine having to revisit testimony like that. I really appreci‐
ate your being here today and your remarks.

Ken, similarly, I appreciate you both standing with the Danforth
families and everyone on behalf of our community. It's been a
strong voice in support of victims and in support of stronger gun
control.

I want to ask not about the detailed nature of the amendments
that this committee has been dealing with. Because I'm a visitor to‐
day, I want to ask a little bit about the culture war that in some
ways at times affects the debate.

At the end of the day—Ken, you and I have had many conversa‐
tions—we all want to get to the same place where we acknowledge
that certain rifles are to be used for hunting. That's as it always has
been and as it will continue to be. There are other weapons that are
designed for a different purpose and should not be available to ev‐
eryone in the same way. We want to make sure we have sensible
gun control, take public safety seriously and listen to law enforce‐
ment, but also listen to victims. Surely we can do both.

Can you speak to how we might get past some of the talking
points and get to a sensible discussion where we bring people to‐
gether?

● (0910)

Mr. Ken Price: I think that's difficult. I think that, as evidenced
by the—

[Translation]

Ms. Kristina Michaud (Avignon—La Mitis—Matane—Mat‐
apédia, BQ): I rise on a point of order, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you.

The interpreter is telling me that it is hard to interpret what
Mr. Erskine‑Smith is saying because there are connectivity issues.
We were unable to hear the end of his question.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Erskine-Smith, could you please give us the last part of your
question at least?

Mr. Nathaniel Erskine-Smith: I was just asking Ken to speak to
the need to get past some of the talking points. We've had many
conversations on this. How do we get to a place where we acknowl‐
edge the reasonable use for hunting while also making sure we
have the strongest and most sensible gun control measures to pro‐
tect future victims?

Mr. Ken Price: Thank you for the question.
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I would say it is difficult to find that centre ground, apparently.
This is the public safety committee, so almost by its title we feel
like this starts with public safety as the primary goal of any of the
initiatives here. We would say that reasonable use should be paired
very closely with what is required, recognizing that ever more pow‐
erful guns, if not used properly, have a lethal impact on victims,
which is what happened in our case.

We would say that you should proceed cautiously. We should be
adding firearms not with enthusiasm for more power and more ca‐
pability, but very cautiously and with a view that it's going to be
impossible to screen out every person who might abuse their privi‐
lege. Therefore, we need to make sure that the weapons are part of
the mitigation strategy we have.

As victims and as the general public, we are stakeholders in this
discussion as much as anybody else who uses those weapons.
That's where you have to find that balance. We would say that now
it's apparent to us that the balance is out of whack a little bit. We
believe that G-4, and Bill C-21 overall, are an attempt to bring that
into line. We hope this committee finds satisfactory middle ground
to accomplish that.

Mr. Nathaniel Erskine-Smith: Thanks. I appreciate your being
here and I appreciate your advocacy.

I will cede the floor to Ms. Damoff.
Ms. Pam Damoff (Oakville North—Burlington, Lib.): Thank

you to all our witnesses for being here today.

Ken, I wondered if you could talk a little bit about gun manufac‐
turers. The Coalition for Gun Control said that from “the 1995 or‐
ders in council that gun manufacturers will circumvent any lists”.
That's one of the reasons they called for a clear definition.

Could you comment on that?
Mr. Ken Price: Again, maybe as an observer I'll make two ob‐

servations. Number one, yesterday the article that was in the Mon‐
treal Gazette, and I think in the Ottawa Citizen, talked very specifi‐
cally about new guns coming to market that are really designed to
circumvent some of the provisions—that are designed to be able to
accept, for example, large-capacity magazines—and there being ev‐
idence of communication around that.

The other part I find curious is that, I think with the exception of
Wolverine, who's a distributor, we don't really see manufacturers at
the table. I don't know if that's a product of the committee or a
product of resistance, but certainly, if G-4 passes, and even in the
current legislation, it would be interesting to hear their perspective.
They're the ones who are designing these guns. What is their inten‐
tion in their design? Will they abide by the five-cartridge magazine
capacity rule that G-4 will establish?

I think we need to hear their voice.
Ms. Pam Damoff: I'd like to thank the National Association of

Women and the Law for the letter you released. I encourage people
to read it and also to read the 32 organizations that have added their
names to it. I always find it disturbing that gender-based violence
gets minimized when there's a firearm in the home.

Can you talk a little bit about coercive control and how firearms
are used in those situations, Dr. Whitmore?

Dr. Erin Whitmore: Yes. Thank you very much for that ques‐
tion.

One thing we wanted to bring to the attention of the committee is
the reality that gun violence looks different in the lives of women
and girls than it does in the lives of men. Not only can guns lead to
femicide or murder. They are also used as tools to control and
threaten women who are living in abusive situations. I personally
have worked with women, and many of the organizations that are
part of our coalition work daily with women, who experience sexu‐
al and physical assault by partners who own a firearm. The pres‐
ence of that firearm in the home makes it much more difficult to
leave a situation or reach out for help. It also makes it extremely
dangerous.

I also want to draw attention to the fact that gun violence in
women's lives is not the same for all women. It's important to un‐
derstand those distinctions. We know that indigenous women,
racialized women and women with disabilities also face increased
risk for different forms of violence. We need to take these into ac‐
count.

● (0915)

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Damoff. I've kind of lost control of
my timer, but I believe that's your time, plus or minus a few sec‐
onds. I apologize.

[Translation]

Ms. Michaud, you have the floor for six minutes.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I thank the witnesses for being here with us this morning.

Mr. Price, unfortunately for you, you have become a regular at
these committee meetings. When you were speaking with my col‐
league, Ms. Damoff, you mentioned an article that was published in
yesterday's editions of the Montreal Gazette and the Ottawa Citi‐
zen. It said that, while we are debating this issue, new weapons are
coming on the market, as has been the case for a long time. Since
the 2020 regulation, manufacturers continue to circumvent the rules
to put new weapons on the market.

From what I understand of Canada's classification of firearms,
there are three classes: non-restricted, restricted and prohibited.
When a manufacturer puts a new firearm on the market, it is auto‐
matically considered a non-restricted weapon. Only later can it be‐
come classified as prohibited. The RCMP is not automatically in‐
formed of the arrival of all these new firearms on the market, so
when it realizes that a new firearm may have to be classified as pro‐
hibited or restricted, it conducts an analysis and then the firearm
can be classified as prohibited.
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Would it be possible to do the opposite? Could a firearm auto‐
matically be classified as prohibited before the manufacturer puts it
on the market? Then we could wait for the RCMP to analyze it to
determine whether it should be classified as non-restricted or re‐
main a prohibited weapon. Perhaps there is a way to include that in
Bill C‑21. Perhaps that is another way to change the Firearms Act.

Do you think such a change could be a good thing?

[English]

Mr. Ken Price: I think this follows up on our belief that what
should be guiding this is reasonably used rather than commonly
used. For example, allowing a gun into the system and then decid‐
ing whether it's dangerous after the fact seems backwards, so I
would agree with your comment on that. I think the aid that this
legislation is intending, from our point of view, is to articulate what
that means so that those who are intending to design guns for the
Canadian marketplace understand that clearly, because there's been
a high level of judgment—to your point—about what's going to be
allowable. I think we see that gun manufacturers will design to the
very limits of that if left unchecked.

That's why we're supporting this more reasonably driven, proac‐
tive approach and a clearer articulation of what is allowable and
what is not.

[Translation]

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you very much.

Ms. Whitmore or Ms. Zaccour, do you have anything you would
like to add? Do you think this might be a good idea and that it
should be added to Bill C‑21 or to another bill to amend the
Firearms Act?

Ms. Suzanne Zaccour: I certainly echo the comments we just
heard.

Safety is paramount and the risks must not be a secondary con‐
sideration. This proposal is in keeping with that idea.

● (0920)

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you very much.

I'll continue with you.

The Bloc Québécois is in favour of banning assault weapons. We
have held that position for a long time and it has not changed.
There were concerns about amendments G‑4 and G‑46, which have
been withdrawn. The use of a list has been rather confusing for ev‐
eryone because the list is hard to follow.

With the help of public servants, we have come to understand
that the only list that will actually be continually updated is the
RCMP's list. Any new weapon that comes onto the market will be
added to that list and not the list of firearms set out in the Criminal
Code under Bill C‑21. Rather than using a list, I am wondering
whether it would not be better to add some sort of safeguard to the
act under which we could add, but not remove, firearms from the
RCMP's list to the act without necessarily taking any legislative ac‐
tion.

That might reassure the groups that are advocating for better gun
control that we will not start backtracking when it comes to prohib‐
ited weapons and those that have already been classified.

What do you think, Mr. Price?
[English]

Mr. Ken Price: Again, I think the intention of having the G-4
amendment is to try to articulate what that ceiling is on capability.
That's why we're in support of it. I also might point out that I think
other groups and this committee have considered also the loopholes
related to large-capacity magazines because that's the other part that
I think is of concern to groups: making sure that the guns abide by
the five-cartridge capacity limit and that manufacturers are design‐
ing to that point and not finding ways around it. I think the combi‐
nation of those two things—G‑4 and then some closing of the loop‐
holes—is what we're looking for as a group.
[Translation]

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Before I hand it over to Ms. Zaccour, I
would like to continue the discussion on that, Mr. Price.

One of the loopholes that I also see is the wording of the G‑4
amendment, which stated that the firearm had to be designed to ac‐
cept a magazine with five or more rounds. The bill says nothing
about firearms that are capable of accepting magazines with more
bullets even though they may not have been specifically designed
to do so.

Are you concerned about the wording there? Should we not say
“capable of” rather than “designed to”?
[English]

Mr. Ken Price: I think the intention is to ensure that it is de‐
signed for capable.... I think this is where, again, having the manu‐
facturers at the table would probably help because it's really their
motivation that we're calling into question with the wording as it is.
It would be interesting to hear what that motivation is going to be
going forward.

Thank you.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, ma'am.
[English]

We go now to Mr. MacGregor.

Mr. MacGregor, go ahead, please, for six minutes.
Mr. Alistair MacGregor (Cowichan—Malahat—Langford,

NDP): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Hello to my fellow committee members. It's good to see every‐
one again. I appreciate being here and having this opportunity to
ask questions of our witnesses.

Let me thank all of our witnesses for appearing, some who are
reappearing.

Dr. Bryant, I'd like to start with you. I'm going to assume that, in
your role in Alberta, you have also taken the time to travel to in‐
digenous communities and have consulted with them on this issue.
Can you confirm that?
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Dr. Teri Bryant: We currently have an initiative, headed by one
of my staff members, that will be doing additional outreach to in‐
digenous communities, but many of the events that I attend are held
in areas that are close to indigenous communities and are heavily
attended by indigenous people. I do speak frequently with indige‐
nous firearms owners at those events, although not as organized
groups.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you. That leads to my next
question.

In the previous Parliament we passed Bill C-15, which essential‐
ly is requiring the Government of Canada, through consultation and
co-operation with indigenous peoples, to take all measures neces‐
sary to ensure that the laws of Canada, the laws passed in our feder‐
al Parliament, are consistent with the declaration.

I believe it was in December that the Assembly of First Nations
passed an emergency resolution by consensus. They specifically
identified article 5, article 18, article 34 and article 39, where they
felt Bill C-21 was contravening those parts of the declaration. I've
spoken to the indigenous members of my caucus who have said that
to have an emergency resolution at the AFN pass by consensus is
virtually unheard of.

Obviously, that consultation had not taken place before the
amendments to Bill C-21 were introduced. I don't think we get
enough indigenous voices heard here in Ottawa. That is a disser‐
vice. It goes against the principle of a nation-to-nation relationship.
It goes against the principle of Bill C-15, which was passed into
law.

I want to hear from you, Dr. Bryant, because the indigenous
members of my caucus and indigenous communities across Canada
have repeatedly said that these amendments affect firearms that are
tools. Particularly in the north, my colleague Lori Idlout—she's the
member for Nunavut—said that when you're face to face with a po‐
lar bear, you can't be equipped with a bolt-action rifle. There is an
absolute need for a rifle that can discharge in a semi-automatic
manner.

Are you hearing the same thing from indigenous communities?
Can you report back to this committee on what some of their con‐
cerns have been over this process? I think that's an important voice
that needs to be added to this conversation to provide that important
context.
● (0925)

Dr. Teri Bryant: I would certainly agree that not only indige‐
nous but also non-indigenous individuals who may confront dan‐
gerous, predatory animals in the wilderness may have a need for
rapid follow-up shots. In fact, there are quite a number of other sit‐
uations where rapid follow-up shots are required. For example, in
the control of feral pigs, which is an increasing problem in agricul‐
tural areas of Alberta, there definitely is a need for that capacity.

I would also point out that one example of many of the firearms
that would have been affected is the SKS rifle, which has been used
for hunting in a great many situations, particularly by hunters on a
budget. The reason why that particular firearm has been very popu‐
lar is that it was very cheap. At one point, you could get one
for $89. The ability to have a hunting rifle capable of taking deer

reasonably and to have multiple follow-up shots if they're necessary
for the control of a dangerous animal, for that low a price, led to its
very widespread sale across Canada.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you.

I only have approximately one minute left, so I want to get one
last question to you, Dr. Bryant.

In your opening remarks you made some suggestions about
amendments that could be proposed to Bill C-21. You did make
mention of the possibility of using the firearms that were listed in
amendment G-46, but also codified by amendment G-4, as moving
that classification to a restricted category. I know you had a little bit
of an exchange on this with Mr. Lloyd, but could you add a little bit
to that?

By having a restricted category, what does that mean to the
firearm owner? What additional safety steps are in place for the
classification of a restricted firearm? I'm also assuming that an ex‐
emption might be needed to allow some of those firearms to be
used for hunting purposes. Currently, restricted firearms can only
legally travel between your home and the range, or a special autho‐
rization is needed if you're moving places of residence.

Dr. Teri Bryant: Yes. If they were restricted firearms, then first
of all they would be registered. Currently, many but not all of the
firearms that are under discussion here are registered. This would
ensure that they would all be registered. That would mean that chief
firearms officers would have some greater degree of control over
who was allowed to possess them in particular jurisdictions.

It also means that you would have to have a restricted firearms
licence in order to own them. That involves an additional step. For
example, in the case of situations where there are allegations of
spousal violence, those firearms could be removed from the home. I
would hasten to point out, actually, that we take a very aggressive
stance on spousal violence issues in Alberta, particularly since I
took over.

● (0930)

The Chair: I'm sorry, Dr. Bryant, but I have to cut you off there.

Dr. Teri Bryant: Okay. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. MacGregor.

We'll start our second round of questions now with Mr. Motz.

Mr. Motz, please go ahead. You have five minutes.

Mr. Glen Motz (Medicine Hat—Cardston—Warner, CPC):
Thank you very much, Chair.

Thank you, witnesses, for being here today.
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We have heard a lot of statements repeatedly about assault-style
firearms and about large-capacity magazines. We know that maga‐
zines that are pinned higher than five rounds are already prohibited
in this country and have been for a while. We had a witness at our
committee this past Tuesday who mentioned automatic assault-style
rifles. We've heard it again today: We have assault-style rifles being
mentioned. I'm really concerned about the use of that terminology
consistently, leaving Canadians to believe that we have automatic
rifles legal in this country, and there's no clear definition. What is
an assault-style rifle?

What's even more troubling is that this same nonsensical unde‐
fined terminology has been repeated by this government when it
refers to the military-style assault weapons they want to prohibit in
the May 2020 order in council.

Now G-4, which included semi-automatic hunting rifles and
shotguns, was in my opinion a failed attempt to redefine what
makes a firearm prohibited. As my colleague Mr. Lloyd has said, a
gun should be classified by what it does, what it's capable of, not by
what it looks like.

Dr. Bryant, with your expertise in this area, can you set the
record straight for us? For Canadians who don't know, what is an
automatic firearm? Are they legal in Canada? When were they pro‐
hibited? What is a “military-style assault weapon”? Do you think
it's ludicrous that a government would invent a term, and then try to
find a definition for it, including firearms that might fit into that
definition?

Dr. Teri Bryant: Thank you.

First of all, fully automatic firearms are ones that continue to dis‐
charge when one pulls the trigger. The firearm continues to dis‐
charge as long as there's ammunition, so they are basically what
most people would call a “machine gun”. Those have been illegal
for private individuals to have since 1977-78 approximately. There
are a tiny number of people who still own them because these were
grandfathered at the time, but those people are now extremely old.
Well, they are even older than me, so I call that “extremely old”.

Then to your question about what would be an assault-style
firearm, it would be a fully automatic firearm that fires an interme‐
diate power cartridge. Hence, the original assault rifles like the Ger‐
man Sturmgewehr or the original fully automatic AK-47s are as‐
sault firearms.

Now “assault-style” takes it a step back. Basically, they're sug‐
gesting it is anything that looks like that. Because some people
have different tastes, you can buy a kit that will make a rifle made
150 years ago look like one of those military-style assault firearms
simply by changing the stock and putting some accessories on it.

I'm not sure I got all of your questions. They were fairly long.
Mr. Glen Motz: We've heard, Dr. Bryant, the government speak

about “military-style assault weapons”. Is that what you're referring
to when you defined these guns as ones where a single pull of the
trigger results in continuous fire until it's out of ammunition? That's
what the government says they're trying to prohibit. Have they hit
the mark with their proposed prohibitions in this country, so that
they would be banning military-style assault weapons that really
don't exist anyway legally?

Dr. Teri Bryant: What I defined was an assault weapon. As I
suggested with the term “military-style”, is that a modern style of
suit or a modern style of car? It is much in the eye of the beholder.
It's pretty much a meaningless term. It is, as you've suggested be‐
fore, somewhat ludicrous to create a term and then create a defini‐
tion to try to match that term.

● (0935)

Mr. Glen Motz: In your opinion, Dr. Bryant, will prohibiting
hunting rifles and shotguns, as was previously planned in G-4—the
firearms the government wants to prohibit that were listed in G-46
and is still trying to find a definition for, even with the full list they
had proposed initially—have any measurable positive impact on
public safety in this country?

Dr. Teri Bryant: The short answer is no. The slightly longer an‐
swer is this: What's important is not what kind of a gun someone
has. It's whether they're allowed to have a gun at all.

That's why, in Alberta, we have focused on improving our
screening process, including having subject matter experts on
spousal violence and having greater training on a wide range of fac‐
tors to ensure that anyone who gets a firearms licence deserves to
have one. That is why we are ramping up our staffing to ensure
prompter attention to any cases—those rare cases—where someone
who has a licence becomes a person who shouldn't have a licence,
and we can follow up on that promptly in order to ensure public
safety.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Motz.

We will go now to Mr. Chiang.

Mr. Chiang, go ahead please for five minutes.

Mr. Paul Chiang (Markham—Unionville, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses this morning for joining us. I
appreciate your time and support on this.

My question is for Mr. Ken Price and for Danforth Families.

Personally, my niece was on the same synchronized swimming
team as Julianna Kozis, so there is some connection for me. It may
be indirect, but there is some connection for me in regard to what
happened on Danforth that night.

Mr. Price, I'm confirming that the Danforth Families support the
creation and enshrinement into law of the definition of what an as‐
sault-style firearm is. Is that correct? Do you support that?

Mr. Ken Price: Yes, we do.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Do you support the definition of the govern‐
ment's creation of the G-4 amendment?
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Mr. Ken Price: Yes, we do. I think it's focused on the right
things, like how powerful the gun is and what the capacity of that
gun and the firearm is. It's focused on the semi-automatic weapons
that are commonly referred to as assault-style rifles and have been
since the 1970s, including in advertising by the industry.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you so much.

The gun used that night on the Danforth was a handgun. Why are
you speaking out about assault-style rifles to this committee?

Mr. Ken Price: When that happened to us, it was in the summer,
and it took us months to decide what we were going to do, to even
find each other and to come together. I think we took some time to
look at the broader landscape and picture. We decided we would
speak from our experience but also acknowledge what's happened
to other people.

We've been very consistent. Right from the February 1 news con‐
ference in 2019, we said we are against these kinds of guns: hand‐
guns and semi-automatic assault-style rifles. It's very consistent
with our position that we would be here today to comment on this.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you so much.

My next question is directed to Dr. Whitmore. In the past, I was a
police officer for 28 years, and in my previous career I investigated
a lot of domestics and a lot of femicides where weapons were
used—different styles of weapons.

In your view, what steps can our government take to ensure that
hunting rights of indigenous communities are protected, while si‐
multaneously taking dangerous assault weapons off our streets?

Dr. Erin Whitmore: Thank you for that question. I'm going to
pass that to my colleague, Suzanne Zaccour.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you.
Ms. Suzanne Zaccour: Thank you for the opportunity to speak.

There are a lot of stakeholders in this debate and everyone recog‐
nizes that indigenous people should be consulted in this debate, and
I might add indigenous women and indigenous women's associa‐
tions. There's been a divide between the hunters and the intimate
partner violence in the indigenous, as if there's no overlap between
some of these categories. We support continued consultations with
first nations, Métis and Inuit people, and indigenous women's asso‐
ciations.

We also, as has been said, support the amendments and support
both the list and a permanent or evergreen definition of guns that
are not reasonably used for hunting, for anyone, in a view to protect
public safety.
● (0940)

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you so much.

How would you feel about a possible exemption for indigenous
communities related to prohibited firearms? Do you have any con‐
cerns with potential exemptions for indigenous communities?

Ms. Suzanne Zaccour: I'm not able to take a position on that on
behalf of the coalition because that's not the viewpoint that we're
here to represent.

If guns are identified as not reasonably used for hunting, then
they're not reasonably used for hunting. However, whether there
should be an exemption and whether it would work in practice is
something I'm not able to take a position on right now.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you so much.

Mr. Price, I'd like to come back to you.

Since you have participated in this committee a few times, I just
want you to wrap up by telling us what you feel our government
should do to keep Canadians safe in the cities and in the rural areas.
What do you think we should do?

Mr. Ken Price: It's a big question. I think Bill C-21 captures a
number of topics, and it is worthwhile that the committee is looking
at that and trying to figure out how we can improve it.

Maybe one comment I'll make is there's still, I think, an open dis‐
cussion with respect to the handgun freeze, exemptions for that
handgun freeze and exemptions particularly for elite sport shooters
and whether that will be expanded to continue a handgun market
that I think we're intending to freeze. That's an open discussion, one
that we have taken a position on and one that we're concerned
about.

When we look back at what Bill C-21 has in it overall, it talks
about borders. It talks about punishment for abusers. It talks about
resources for underserved communities. It talks about gun control,
and it's starting to address, I think, issues around ghost guns and
replica weapons. Those are the topics. It's the breadth of Bill C-21
that we admire, and we would say that we want to support it be‐
cause, imperfect even as it is today, it would be a far cry better than
where we are right now.

Mr. Paul Chiang: Thank you so much.

The Chair: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chiang.

I forgot to say that we will have to end this panel after Mr. Mac‐
Gregor.

[Translation]

It is now Ms. Michaud's turn.

Ms. Michaud, you have two and a half minutes.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Bryant, the Government of Alberta appointed you as the
Chief Firearms Officer to defend the rights of law-abiding gun
owners. In an article published by Radio-Canada in Novem‐
ber 2022, you said that the G‑4 amendment would have an impact
on hunters and recreational gun owners and that nearly all firearms
could be used for hunting.
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To your knowledge, right now in Canada, how many makes and
models of firearms can be used for hunting? Is it about a hundred,
several hundred, thousands? Do you have any idea of the number of
firearms on the market that could be used for hunting?

Dr. Teri Bryant: I think there are thousands of models.

There is a firearms reference table that shows the classifications,
and it includes thousands of firearms. Many models could be used
for hunting even though their use is prohibited by law.

It is difficult to say exactly, but there are certainly thousands.
Ms. Kristina Michaud: I understand. Thank you. That gives us

a good idea.

After they were presented, the amendments caused a lot of sur‐
prises and everyone was talking about them. In my riding, hunters
were concerned that their firearm might end up on the list of pro‐
hibited weapons. Some of them said that, if the gun they use for
hunting ended up on the list, then they would simply buy a different
one. They were not too worried about it.

What we finally understood from the amendments, because they
were rather difficult to comprehend, is that some 480 makes and
models of firearms would be classified as prohibited. Only about a
dozen of those are commonly used for hunting.

Even without those 480 models, don't you think that there will
still be some firearms left on the market that can be used for hunt‐
ing? Is that your understanding given the number you provided ear‐
lier?
● (0945)

Dr. Teri Bryant: There will certainly be some models that can
be used for hunting, but not all firearms are created equal. Every
person has specific needs. Quite often, a person's specific require‐
ments can be met by one gun and not another. That is why there are
thousands of models out there.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Michaud.

[English]

We'll go to Mr. MacGregor.

Mr. MacGregor, please bring it home in two and a half minutes.
Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'll devote this last section to the National Association of Women
and the Law.

First of all, I want to recognize your work on this bill. We've had
some fantastic conversations about possible amendments to
strengthen it. One unfortunate thing about amendments G-4 and
G-46 is that they suck all the oxygen out of the room when we talk
about Bill C-21, in general. When you look at the middle clauses of
this bill—especially the ones empowering chief firearms officers to
be much more vigilant in revoking licences, if there is ever any sus‐
pected domestic abuse or violence going on—they are, in fact,
probably much more effective, in my view, in terms of public safe‐
ty.

I was also very interested in Dr. Bryant's opening suggestion of a
half measure, perhaps: the possibility of using the classification of
“restricted” so that the firearms in question have to be registered.
There's a need for a restricted possession and authorization licence,
with much more stringent requirements put in place. I think that, in
a home where domestic violence is present, any firearm in the
hands of the wrong person will be dangerous, no matter its make or
model.

I know we can't talk in detail about the amendments in place for
other clauses of the bill, but I would like to invite the National As‐
sociation of Women and the Law to talk about the submissions they
made to committee members that attempt to strengthen those par‐
ticular clauses of the bill, so that chief firearms officers have even
more authority to target individuals when a firearm is present, so
we can address violence going on in a domestic situation.

Could you talk about the rationale behind what brought you to
that, and your experience and expertise in this area?

Ms. Suzanne Zaccour: I appreciate the question.

I want to add a little pre-answer: Every time we take a position
on anything, we're always asked, “Is there not another, better way,
and is that going to be sufficient?” Every time, we say we want to
reach full equality and will take every necessary step. We don't be‐
lieve in choosing between two partial ways to make women safe.

That being said, I appreciate the opportunity to talk about the
other proposals we've made regarding Bill C-21. When there is
danger, it's important to act quickly. Guns need to be removed
quickly and not returned to the gun owner to dispose of them where
they see fit—to give them to their brother or roommate. We pro‐
posed solutions to make these yellow flags—I think they've been
called that—quicker and more effective.

We also made suggestions regarding protection orders. People
currently subject to one should be ineligible to have guns. We un‐
derstand this would have limited use for public officers, who are
not subject to the same regime, but it would be useful to target
some gun owners engaging in family violence.
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I also want to respond to your idea that the air has been sucked
out of the rest of the discussion. That is certainly true. There's been
an escalation in the debate. I believe disinformation is part of the
reason. We hear questions about automatic weapons, which are not
part of the debate. We hear questions about the way a gun looks.
I've read the amendments, and there's nothing about colour, so
there's some kind of disinformation going on. We felt compelled to
re-enter this debate, in order to recentre the conversation on what
it's really about, because most people don't read laws for a living
and might be very confused by the debate currently.
● (0950)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. MacGregor.

That brings our questioning to an end for this panel. I would like
to thank all the witnesses for their time today and for sharing their
expertise. It is most helpful to our study.

With that, we will suspend and bring in the next panel. Thank
you, all.
● (0950)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (0955)

The Chair: I call this meeting back to order.

I would like to welcome our second panel of witnesses.

With us by video conference we have, as an individual, Dr. John
Kortbeek, professor emeritus of the Cumming school of medicine
at the University of Calgary. From Canadian Doctors for Protection
from Guns, we have Dr. Najma Ahmed, doctor, and Dr. Anna Dare,
general surgeon. From the Nunavut Association of Municipalities,
we have Mr. Joe Savikataaq, president.

Welcome to you all. Thank you for being here.

I will give each group an opportunity for up to five minutes of
opening statements, after which we will proceed with rounds of
questions. I will invite Dr. Kortbeek to make an opening statement.

Please go ahead, sir. You have five minutes.
Dr. John B. Kortbeek (Professor Emeritus, Cumming School

of Medicine, University of Calgary, As an Individual): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair, vice-chairs and members of the commit‐
tee. I appreciate the privilege of presenting this morning.

My name is John Kortbeek. I'm a recently retired physician. I
practised trauma, general surgery and critical care in Calgary for
over three decades. I also held a number of leadership positions, in‐
cluding head of trauma services in Calgary. I was chairman of the
department of surgery at the University of Calgary and the Calgary
zone for 10 years. I served as president of the Trauma Association
of Canada and as a governor for the American College of Surgeons.
I also recently served as a director for Canadian Doctors for Protec‐
tion from Guns until my retirement.

I had an early introduction to the effectiveness and power of pol‐
icy and legislation. When I completed my surgery and critical criti‐
cal training in Canada, I travelled to the southern United States to
pursue a trauma fellowship. I resuscitated and operated on six gun‐

shot wounds that first night. That was more than I had seen in my
entire residency at that time in Calgary. When I returned to Canada,
I was fortunate to bear witness to significant improvements in our
trauma systems and trauma care over the subsequent decades.

Today, in Canada, if you arrive at a trauma centre following a
gunshot wound, you don't have a head injury and you have a blood
pressure, you have a reasonable chance of surviving. That comes at
a cost. That cost may be prolonged stays in the intensive care unit
on a ventilator; days, weeks or months in hospital; multiple opera‐
tions by multiple specialists; and prolonged rehab.

After discharge, we follow these patients for weeks, months and,
in some cases, years to manage their complications. Often, they
need reoperations for correction of their bowel stomas, reoperations
for bowel obstructions, debridement of ulcers, referrals to chronic
pain specialists, etc. There also exists a significant mental health
cost to this. Many of them cannot return to their former work and
pursue a living. As you can imagine, it also has a tremendous effect
on their families.

My engagement on this issue was precipitated by several things.
One was that I was on call in 2011 when the Claresholm massacre
occurred. That involved four young college students who were re‐
turning from Lethbridge to Calgary. They were pursued by a gun‐
man and shot near Claresholm. Three died at the scene and one pre‐
sented to our hospital alive. The gunman subsequently died of a
self-inflicted gunshot wound.

I have seen a lot in my career, but I find that episode particularly
troublesome to this day.

The other event that was occurring was my colleagues in the
trauma service and I—and in the ICU—were noticing what we
thought was an increase in the number of gunshot wounds we were
admitting to our hospital. That was the impetus to do a full litera‐
ture review, retrieve our trauma registry data and present city-wide
critical care rounds at the University of Calgary. Some of that was
subsequently reviewed in a podcast on CJS, the Canadian Journal
of Surgery's Cold Steel.

During the rounds, we were able to substantiate the significant
increase in admissions to our hospitals for gunshot wounds. We
pulled Edmonton and Calgary data. It more than doubled in 10
years, despite a 20% increase in the population. Today, gunshot
wound admissions are a weekly event in both Edmonton and Cal‐
gary, with about 100 a year.

Through the literature review, we were also able to substantiate
good evidence in the literature that there is an association between
the number of guns in a community or a society—particularly
handguns—and endemic gun violence, and an association with the
presence and access to semi-automatic weapons with large-capacity
magazines and multiple mass shooting events.
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On a personal note, I don't own a gun, but I grew up hunting with
my father. My family hunts. They own guns. I accompany them on
hunts because I like the walk and the venison. I own land in south‐
ern Alberta where we allow friends and family to hunt. I've spoken
to many of my friends who hunt. None of them own semi-automat‐
ic weapons or use them for hunting. None of them have large-ca‐
pacity magazines. At least for sport and recreation hunting, they're
not necessary in the view of my friends, my family and the people
who hunt on my land.

In summary, there's clear evidence on the association between
access to handguns and endemic gun violence, and access to semi-
automatic weapons and large-capacity magazines and multiple
mass shooting events. There is good evidence that the restriction of
access to these weapons reduces endemic gun violence and reduces
the number of victims of multiple mass shooting events.

Ultimately, it's a choice society has to make. What guns are per‐
missible? What should we allow access to? What level of gun vio‐
lence are we willing to accept in our community?

Thank you.
● (1000)

The Chair: Thank you, Doctor.

We go now to Dr. Ahmed and Dr. Dare for an opening statement
of up to five minutes.

Please, go ahead.
Dr. Anna Dare (General Surgeon, Canadian Doctors for Pro‐

tection from Guns): Thank you.

I am here today as a scientist, physician, Canadian citizen and
mother. I am a surgeon and epidemiologist at the University of
Toronto.

I did not set out to study firearms deaths or policy. During my
post-doctoral fellowship I examined the major causes of death in
the Americas. I was surprised to find that firearm injury was an im‐
portant cause of premature death, including in Canada, and one that
could be addressed with a public health science approach.

Legislation is widely considered to be the foundation on which
effective public health responses to firearm harms are built.
Amendments G-4 and G-46 specifically address assault weapons.
The public health intent of prohibiting these weapons is to remove
from public circulation those firearms that can quickly and effi‐
ciently inflict maximal harm on the human body.

Assault weapon bans reduce mass shootings. This has been stud‐
ied in several peer nations that have introduced them. The highest-
quality studies demonstrate that legislation prohibiting assault
weapons and restricting magazine capacity has led to the reduction
in, one, the number of mass shootings, and two, the number of fa‐
talities per event.

Australia's national Firearms Act, which was introduced in 1996
after the country's largest mass shooting, closely resembles Bill
C-21. Its definition of assault weapons is similar to the G-4 and
G-46 amendments. Many scholars have analyzed the impact of
these laws over the past 25 years since they were introduced. There
is strong evidence that the laws caused reductions in mass shoot‐

ings in Australia. No public mass shootings have occurred in Aus‐
tralia for 23 years after the legislation was adopted. The chance of
that happening, in the absence of the law change, is one in 200,000.
There's also consistent evidence that rates of firearm suicides de‐
creased after the law was introduced, by 74%, on average.

Prohibitions must be comprehensive, restrictive, national and
durable. Definitions are critical. Legislation prohibiting assault
weapons must outline a specific set of characteristics of a firearm
and its ammunition that make it lethal and inappropriate for civilian
ownership. Loopholes and limitations can substantially weaken the
public health impact. A definition must cover both current and fu‐
ture variants.

I would like to speak now to my experience as a surgeon and as a
Canadian.

I wish I could bring you into our trauma bay to show you the
harms firearms do every week in our community. It is shocking
how quickly someone can lose their entire blood volume after a
gunshot wound. The heart looks like a deflated balloon—still trying
to beat but with nothing to pump out. Making your way to the quiet
room after never gets easier. You are telling someone's mother,
partner or child that they have been shot and have died.

Mass shootings leave an outsized imprint on the national psyche.
They strike at the heart of our belief that we live in a safe, tolerant
and peaceful country. The political responses that mass shooting
engender also define countries on the international stage. “Tough
on crime” is not the answer here. Nine out of the last 10 mass
shootings in Canada were reportedly committed by Canadians with‐
out a criminal record.

Canada is not exceptional in its need to balance firearms owner‐
ship and use with public safety. Other countries, including New
Zealand, have all been through similar national reckonings. In
2019, following a mass shooting, New Zealand banned semi-auto‐
matic rifles and shotguns and further restricted magazine capacity
and firearm caliber. Just like in Canada, emotions ran high as the
legislation was being crafted, but the conversation has moved on.
When the public was polled a year later, 81% supported the law
change. Three years later, my family members in New Zealand and
many others still go hunting with legally owned firearms.
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To practice science is to ask questions. I leave you with these:
How do we balance public safety with legitimate firearm use? What
are the core values of our society? What trade-offs are we willing to
make for fewer deaths and for safer communities? When the next
mass shooting happens, will we regret failing to act today? Would
we be able to say to someone's family member, “I did everything I
could”?

The physicians represented in our organization and the patients
and families across Canada ask that you permanently remove
firearms that are designed to kill people efficiently and quickly
from our communities.

Thank you.
● (1005)

The Chair: Thank you, Doctor.

I now invite Mr. Savikataaq to make an opening statement for
five minutes, please.

Go ahead, sir.
Hon. Joe Savikataaq (President, Nunavut Association of Mu‐

nicipalities): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First of all, I would like to thank you for the invitation to present
to this committee.

I would also like to express our appreciation to our member of
Parliament, Lori Idlout, for her work in representing the issues of
Nunavut with respect to the proposed amendments to Bill C-21.

Finally, thank you to all those who agreed to withdraw the
amendments. By doing so, you have recognized that hunting is an
important part of Inuit identity, culture and survival. Had this pro‐
ceeded, it would have had a devastating effect on Nunavummiut.

This morning I'm representing 25 communities and 25 mayors,
as I'm the president of all the municipalities here in Nunavut. The
Nunavut Association of Municipalities, representing the 25 munici‐
palities across Nunavut, have openly opposed the recent amend‐
ments to Bill C-21. If the amendments were passed, the use of
firearms that are critical for hunting and for safety on the land
would have made us criminals in our own land and our own coun‐
try.

Many of the proposed firearms—there are approximately 1,500
of them listed in the amendments—have become a necessary part
of our culture. They provide protection from aggressive wildlife
and allow us to harvest for our families and for our community
members where we're living. With the cost of living in Nunavut be‐
ing approximately 44% higher than the national average, we need
to hunt to offset the cost of food. The other factor is the potential
for human-animal conflicts that we may encounter on the land. The
legal firearms that we are currently using allow us to maintain our
own food security and personal safety.

To provide you with an example, a hunter would use a firearm to
deter an aggressive bear. Most often it takes more than several shots
to ward them off. If a bear cannot be scared off and continues to
charge a hunter, the amendments would not allow the peace of
mind and the ability of the hunter to return to their loved ones. If
this bill were passed, there would have been more shoot-to-kill situ‐

ations rather than deterring. This legislation, if amended, would
have increased fatalities for both wildlife and people.

Trying to reduce gun violence by including the firearms used by
law-abiding gun owners for survival would have caused hardship to
Nunavummiut. Inuit respect their firearms. They are a tool for sur‐
vival. Gun owners in Nunavut are licensed with a background
check and a renewal every five years. A national ban on hunting ri‐
fles that allow us to maintain our own food security by hunting and
personal security while maintaining a cultural lifestyle on the land
is continued colonialism and does not respect our way of life.
Nunavut was created so that our culture and lifestyle would sur‐
vive.

If the intention of these amendments was to improve the safety
of humans living in urban areas, that would make total sense. It
does not make sense to include the firearms that Inuit hunters need
to harvest their food from the land and the water. Life is hard
enough as it is for Nunavummiut. Nunavut has the highest rate of
indigenous low-income households, with 22% of the population
living below the poverty line in Canada.

If these amendments were passed, a hunter providing for his
family, the elders and the community by using the right piece of
equipment to maintain the safety of the hunter against aggressive
animals would have unknowingly committed a crime. They would
have a prison sentence of possibly up to 10 years. People who take
other people's lives often receive less time than this. To counteract
gun violence, the policy to do so should not affect law-abiding
Nunavummiut trying to survive, make a living, get by and provide
for their families.

If there are further amendments to Bill C-21, we request that Inu‐
it be consulted so that we can inform you of the impact the amend‐
ments will have on our culture and traditional lifestyle. Thank you
very much for that.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

● (1010)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savikataaq.

We'll start our first round of questions. I will have to shorten
these rounds. Instead of six minutes, they will be five minutes. The
following round will be reduced somewhat as well in order for us to
get through this. We have a fairly short time.

We'll go now to Ms. Dancho, please, for five minutes.

Ms. Raquel Dancho (Kildonan—St. Paul, CPC): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you very much to the witnesses for being with us today.

I have a few questions for Canadian Doctors for Protection from
Guns. Thank you for being here.
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Dr. Kortbeek, I believe you were also associated with the Cana‐
dian Doctors for Protection from Guns as well, but you're appearing
separately. Is that correct?

Dr. John B. Kortbeek: Yes.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you very much. I appreciated the
physician testimony we received today.

It's my understanding that you as a group have been to commit‐
tee a few times now. Is that correct?

I see nodding.

You have met with the Liberal government on several occasions
over the last number of years. Is that correct?

Dr. Najma Ahmed (Doctor, Canadian Doctors for Protection
from Guns): I'll take that question, thank you.

We've met with representatives from many parties, including mu‐
nicipal and federal representatives from the NDP government as
well as the Liberal government, and we have sought to meet with
members of the Conservative government but have, as of yet, not
been successful.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: I'm the lead on this file. I don't believe I've
ever received an invite, but if I have, I'm happy to meet with you
anytime.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: That's good to hear.
Ms. Raquel Dancho: Absolutely.

I know that you have met with Jagmeet Singh, which is great to
see, but you've specifically met with the Liberals since 2019, either
the PMO, staff, Minister Mendicino, Minister Blair or Minister
Freeland. In fact, since 2019, it's been 22 times.

Is that correct? That's what I have from the lobbyist registry.
● (1015)

Dr. Najma Ahmed: I can't verify the number of times. It's true
that we've been in communication, email communication or phone
communication, with multiple ministers on this file. That is correct.

I am a constituent of Minister Freeland, and I've met with her on
various matters while she's been in government.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you.

I'm just taking the numbers from the official lobbyist registry. I
appreciate that, and, again, the feedback you've provided to this
committee is an important piece of what we're discussing.

Dr. Ahmed, I want to ask you about a few things. Again, I know
that certainly the Canadians Doctors for Protection from Guns has
met with the Liberals 22 times in the last few years and certainly
has appeared at committee before, but I did want to ask you about
some of the positions you've taken concerning firearms.

On July 6, 2020, you tweeted out that you were in favour of ban‐
ning civilian ownership of guns. You said, “Honestly—it's the guns,
it's the guns. Ban civilian ownership of guns.”

On January 15—
Dr. Najma Ahmed: May I answer?

Ms. Raquel Dancho: I'm just going to finish, and then I'll go
over to you.

On January 15, 2019, you said “No civilian needs access to
guns” on Twitter. On December 18, 2019, you retweeted something
from an account called NoGunsInCanada.

Again, your group has met with the Liberal government to advise
on policy several times, and the position that you've taken is that no
one in Canada should own guns. Would you like to comment on
that?

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Yes, I'd like to correct the record.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Please do.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Our organization has met with members of
different and various parties and continues to seek an audience with
the Conservative government and would be happy to do so at any
time.

Our position statement is very clearly articulated on our website.
We support an evidence-informed policy to reduce harm, death and
injury from guns, including legislation to ban the most lethal types
of weapons, which is what we are—

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you, Dr. Ahmed. Thank you very
much.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: May I finish?

Ms. Raquel Dancho: I am going to continue. I have a few more
questions but, again, I appreciate that you've met with Freeland on
other issues as well.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: I'd like to clarify for the record, please, that
our organization does not support the banning of civilian ownership
of all guns.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: I'm sorry. Are you saying that the policy of
the group you're representing is not to ban all civilian ownership? Is
that just your personal opinion?

Dr. Najma Ahmed: No, it's not my personal opinion either. It's
my personal opinion and the position of the group to ban handguns
and semi-automatic weapons, but not civilian use of all weapons.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you very much.

Okay, so what you've tweeted on three separate occasions en‐
dorsing the ban of all civilian ownership, you don't—

Dr. Najma Ahmed: That's a misrepresentation.

Thank you.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Those are the words that you wrote,
ma'am, respectfully, on Twitter. I read them verbatim. It's fine.

I noted that you have mentioned evidence as well, but there were
two studies on your website that your group has since removed.
Again, new studies come and it's fine to add and remove them, but I
did note that the two studies that were removed don't serve the poli‐
cy position that you've taken.
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In fact, one of them in particular was talking about suicide and
the correlation between firearm restrictions and suicide. The study
itself, which has now been removed from your website, suggests
that suicide was not decreased by restrictions of firearms. In fact,
unfortunately, as other evidence has shown, if people want to com‐
mit suicide, they will use whatever means they can. I did find it in‐
teresting that it was removed from your website, and I know your
group has cited a lot of information, so it's just a bit odd to me.

There was another study that you removed from your website as
well that did not support your conclusion. It said, “Specific laws di‐
rected at firearm trafficking, improving child safety, or the banning
of military-style assault weapons were not associated with changes
in firearm homicide rates. The evidence for laws restricting guns—

Again, that was removed from your website.

The Chair: That is time.

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I wish I had that
last minute, but thank you.

The Chair: I understand.

I invite the witness to respond in 30 seconds, if you wish to re‐
spond.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: I would just make the point that there's
overwhelming evidence internationally that decreasing access to
lethal means decreases suicide rates on a national level, on a per-
population level, and that the majority of people do not substitute a
lethal mechanism. Even if people attempt suicide and that attempt
does not result in their death, the majority of people who survive a
suicide attempt do not go on to—

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Mr. Chair, I do feel that if the witness is
going to be allowed to go over time, she should have to table the
required evidence that she's talking about.
● (1020)

Dr. Najma Ahmed: We would be pleased to table the evi‐
dence—

Ms. Raquel Dancho: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Dancho.

Thank you to the witness.

We'll go now to Ms. Damoff.

Please go ahead for five minutes.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you.

Thank you to all of our witnesses for being here today.

Dr. Kortbeek, I listened to a podcast you did where you talked
about the “burden of injury” from firearms and said that the burden
of injury is why you became involved in this issue. Could you
maybe talk about that a bit?

Dr. John B. Kortbeek: Yes, certainly. As I said, we were experi‐
encing an increase in injury admissions in Alberta and were able to
substantiate that we're now admitting about 100 patients a year for
gunshot wounds, in addition to homicide and suicide. The national
figures for homicide and suicide are approximately 200 and 600 for
firearms.

In Alberta, the admission data often doesn't get presented. We
did have a national database for injury admissions that was within
CIHI—the national trauma registry—but it was discontinued due to
funding approximately 10 years ago. Having a national repository
that captures all of the injury admission data for firearms would ac‐
tually be very useful to inform policy.

Nevertheless, we've seen an increase in admissions. The prairie
provinces have the highest number of admissions per capita in
Canada. Based on the data I've seen from B.C. and Alberta, annual
admissions in Canada probably exceed 500. There's a significant—

Ms. Pam Damoff: Are all those admissions—

Oh, I'm sorry, Doctor.
Dr. John B. Kortbeek: There's a significant burden of injury

from firearms.

Multiple mass shooting events fortunately are uncommon. They
still attract media attention and grab the public's attention, as was
seen with the 2019 shooting of three people in northern B.C., which
resulted in daily frontline headline news and the largest manhunt in
recent Canadian history.

They occur about once a year. The majority of them have been
associated with either handguns or semi-automatic weapons with
large-capacity magazines, the latter resulting in a greater number of
casualties per incident.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you very much.

Dr. Ahmed, do you support the government's proposed red flag
laws?

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Thanks for the question.

Our organization supports well-written and properly implement‐
ed red flag laws, as they have been shown to decrease the number
and severity of public mass shootings, as well as having an effect of
decreasing suicides. Our organization does support the proposed
red and yellow flag laws.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you.

To go back to you just quickly, Dr. Kortbeek, have you conduct‐
ed any academic research on the topic of firearm injuries?

Dr. John B. Kortbeek: Only with respect to treatment and not
with respect to surveillance, apart from the presentation at city-
wide critical care rounds and the publication of the interview pod‐
cast with the Canadian Journal of Surgery, Cold Steel.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Okay.

Dr. Ahmed, we had Dr. Langmann here, who testified that his re‐
search says that access to firearms does not result in an increase in
suicides and that stricter gun control measures do not lead to reduc‐
tions in homicides. Do you agree with his work? Are you familiar
with it? I wonder if you could elaborate on that a bit.

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Thank you. That's a great question, Ms.
Damoff.

I'll hand it over to Dr. Dare, who is prepared to answer.
Dr. Anna Dare: Thank you.
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As with any field of study, there are varied opinions and perspec‐
tives on the data. There are some lone wolves in this area of re‐
search, no question, but the consensus within the scientific commu‐
nity internationally is that comprehensive firearm laws save lives.

Within the context of Canada's measuring the impact of gun
laws, one of the challenges we do have is that we don't disaggregate
data, and it makes it very difficult to study this problem. We should
also be very wary of drawing any sweeping conclusion. That said,
there have been some Canadian papers looking at major gun control
changes in the late 1970s and in 1995 that are considered to be
methodologically sound and do show reductions in homicides and
suicides.

I would note and caution this committee and the references it
draws to a couple of the Canadian studies that have come before the
committee most recently. They ask very important and relevant
questions, but there are major flaws in the design, analysis and re‐
porting of the results. We will be submitting a more thorough statis‐
tical assessment based on input from independent academics and
biostatisticians across North America, including in leading univer‐
sities such as Johns Hopkins, Harvard and Toronto, to both the
journal and this committee.

The method used in 2023 and the 2020 paper looking at Canadi‐
an legislation by a sole author, called difference-in-differences, can‐
not be applied to a single population exposed to the same legisla‐
tion. It chooses the incorrect control group and it is highly selective
in which laws it chooses to include and how it divides time periods
up.

I would also like to acknowledge that not all peer review is creat‐
ed equal and not all journals are created equal. PLOS One, where
these studies have been published, does not rank in the top 5,000
scientific peer-reviewed journals currently. I do publish on firearm
mortality surveillance around the world, and my work has been
published in The Lancet Public Health, which is the world's leading
public health journal.
● (1025)

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you very much.
Dr. Najma Ahmed: Ms. Damoff, if I could add one comment,

I've read that paper and Dr. Dare's done an excellent analysis of it
as well, but I would urge anyone to read that paper and particularly
the discussion in which the author himself documents and acknowl‐
edges the many, many limitations of that study.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We have to go now to our next panellist.
[Translation]

Ms. Michaud, you have five minutes.
Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I thank the witnesses for being here today. We are very grateful
to them.

I have a question for the representatives from Doctors for Protec‐
tion from Guns. As you said, you have witnessed gun violence
first-hand. Quite frankly, you see some rather traumatizing things.

You are not necessarily obligated to advocate for better gun control,
but you do and you are here. I thank you for that.

In a letter from last December, you spoke about disinformation
and the tactics the gun lobby was using to claim that certain guns
would be included in or excluded from the legislation and amend‐
ments. Upon closer examination, we see that this information is not
true. Most of the guns that were described on social media as
firearms that the government wanted to ban would not be affected.
The posts were referring to a similar model or there was some other
issue.

Certain tactics have even been used against you, Ms. Ahmed. I
learned that, in 2019, you had close to 70 complaints filed against
you by members of the Canadian Coalition of Firearms Rights.

I would like you to tell us about that experience.

Do you think that this kind of tactic hinders the debate that we
are having and interferes with the passage of legislation for better
gun control?

[English]

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Thank you for the question.

Yes, you correctly point out that when we first started this work,
I was personally targeted by members of the Canadian Coalition for
Firearm Rights. Seventy of their members, people I had never met
or treated as a physician, made complaints to the regulatory body in
Ontario, the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario, alleg‐
ing that my work in this area, my advocacy in this area, was some‐
how unprofessional and that my licence to practice medicine should
be revoked. After a review of those complaints, the college con‐
cluded that those complaints were an abusive process and frivolous,
and dismissed each and every one of them out of hand.

To answer the second part of your question, I would like to say I
believe these tactics are specifically used to intimidate, harass and
quieten the other side. I would say that the majority of physicians
and the majority of Canadians are in favour of evidence-informed
firearm policy, but there's a very loud, vociferous and constant
drumbeat from the other side, the intent of which is simply to ha‐
rass and intimidate those of us who would come forward with a
voice of science and advocate on behalf of the communities and pa‐
tients that we serve.

I would also note that a key function and role of physicians in so‐
ciety is that of advocate. This has been true if you look at smoking
legislation, seat belt legislation, asbestos or safe water. All of those
public health advances have in many cases been spearheaded and in
all cases supported by physicians who have seen the results of poor
legislation at the coalface, which is in our emergency departments,
operating rooms and hospitals.

[Translation]

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you.

I am sorry that happened to you.
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At this stage of the game, what do you expect from the govern‐
ment and the members of this committee when it comes to the pas‐
sage of Bill C‑21. I know that the government is reworking some
amendments and may come back to us with amendments on mili‐
tary-style assault weapons. As it has been said many times, this was
not an accurate way of describing the weapons in question. There
are some good things and some not so good things. The process
could be improved.

At this stage of the game, what do you expect from the govern‐
ment and the opposition members?
● (1030)

[English]
Dr. Najma Ahmed: Thank you.

I'll start and perhaps I'll ask Dr. Dare to jump in.

I will be brief. I think it's exceptionally important, as we consider
amendments G-4 and G-46, that a clear definition is put forth, one
that does not allow copycat models to come forth in the future. I
think it's very important that we address the proliferation of hand‐
guns and that we continue to use the science to inform public policy
in this matter.

Dr. Dare.
Dr. Anna Dare: Thank you.

I would echo those comments, and I think it is helpful to consid‐
er the international context as well in which much of this legislation
has gone before. Internationally, legislation really seeks to target
two common features when it comes to assault weapons: prohibit‐
ing semi-automatic rifles and shotguns, and restricting magazine
capacity. Those two things must go together.

The technical details of how those are realized are specific to
each country context. However, it's very important to retain the
core intent in mind to reflect on what is known and the evidence, to
be aware of what are high-quality studies and what are not high-
quality studies in support of that, and to acknowledge that many
countries do grant narrow and detailed exemptions in specific areas.
That may be an important way forward, particularly for some of our
more unique communities.

The Chair: I'm sorry to have to cut you off there. Thank you.

Mr. MacGregor, please go ahead for five minutes.
Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Chair.

I'd like to thank all of our witnesses, some of whom are reappear‐
ing, for helping to guide our committee through this study.

Mr. Savikataaq, I'd like to direct my questions to you. I want to
thank you for your opening statement, for making an appearance
and for also giving a very important perspective—the indigenous
perspective—on what these proposed amendments would mean for
communities like yours.

When Bill C-21 was first introduced, on the day it was intro‐
duced, the minister made mention of the fact that amendments
would also be added to the bill. When they were brought in, and we
did spend a lot of time on them, there was quite a visceral reaction
from many indigenous communities.

I just want to know, before those amendments were brought in,
were any communities within your jurisdiction ever consulted by
the Government of Canada on these amendments and what they
would mean for communities like yours?

Hon. Joe Savikataaq: Thank you for that.

That's a negative. No, we were not consulted on anything, on
how we would have been affected or impacted. There was absolute‐
ly no consultation or information flowing to us in the whole territo‐
ry of Nunavut here at our level.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: In other words, the amendments were
brought in and then we saw the Minister of Public Safety make a
trip up to the Yukon. Therefore, they were brought in and then con‐
sultation happened after the fact. Is that correct, or was it an attempt
at consultation? I would label it more as an engagement and not a
consultation.

Hon. Joe Savikataaq: I am not aware of anything that happened
in Yukon territory, as I am in Nunavut. As I am aware, there were
no consultations that took place in Nunavut.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for clarifying that and con‐
firming that.

In our previous federal Parliament we passed into law Bill C-15.
One of the primary aims of that legislation was to ensure that the
Government of Canada, in consultation and co-operation with in‐
digenous peoples, takes all measures necessary to ensure that the
laws of Canada are consistent with the declaration.

We saw in December of last year that the Assembly of First Na‐
tions took a very unusual step in passing an emergency resolution
that identified article 5, article 18, article 34 and article 39 as the
reasoning that they were opposed to these amendments of Bill
C-21.

In your mind, Mr. Savikataaq, do these amendments in the pro‐
posed legislation from the Government of Canada satisfy the prin‐
ciples of the government's previous Bill C-15 when it is attempting
to harmonize Canada's laws with the declaration?

● (1035)

Hon. Joe Savikataaq: No, they do not. In my opinion, they do
not do that.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: I only have a couple of minutes left.

You detailed at length what these amendments would have done
in terms of not only the safety of hunters living in your community
but also food security. You mentioned that 22% of residents in your
territory are living below the poverty line, and many have to sup‐
plement their diets from the land.

What does consultation mean to you? In order for the govern‐
ment to satisfy the legal requirements of Bill C-15, what does that
mean? What, at a bare minimum, does the Government of Canada
need to do with indigenous communities before introducing laws
that can have this kind of profound impact on their way of life?
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Hon. Joe Savikataaq: I'll start off by saying that maybe the 22%
part there.... Please be aware that every Nunavut community is fly-
in only. There is no road connected to here, so nothing can be
trucked here. Everything is flown in, which raises the prices dra‐
matically.

With regard to the consultation part, I believe that the proper way
would be to consult with the people on the ground who will be af‐
fected. Consult not only certain people who could make decisions,
but go right to the people who will be affected in person and on the
ground. Have a foot there. That would be the best way to consult
with the people on how to get the actual word from the heart of the
people right on the ground.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you.

I want to close by saying that I think it's incredibly important.
This government has clearly identified a nation-to-nation relation‐
ship as being the most important relationship, and I think it's quite
obvious in this instance that this very high bar has not been met.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. MacGregor.

We'll start our second round. We have about 10 minutes left—
less than 10 minutes—so we're going to abbreviate this round to
four two-minute slots, one for each party. We'll start with Mr. Ship‐
ley.

Mr. Shipley, please go ahead for two minutes.
Mr. Doug Shipley (Barrie—Springwater—Oro-Medonte,

CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

This first question will be for Mr. Savikataaq.

Sir, I had the privilege and honour of coming up last summer to
Iqaluit and spending a couple days. It was a great learning experi‐
ence. On one of those days, we went out with a local gentleman for
a seal harvest. It was a long day. It was on a boat on a very cold
lake. It was windy. It was just an eye-opening experience.

He was successful in getting a seal that day. It took a long time to
get one. It's not quite as easy as you would think. They harvest
them with a long rifle. I don't have the calibre of what the gun was
at the time.

Upon return to the community, it was heartwarming to see, once
we got back to his home, his wife come running out with excite‐
ment that he had been able to get this seal. Even his children came
out and watched and helped him dress that seal. They were going to
be using every single part of that seal for feeding their family, for
even making mittens. Anything left over was going to go to the
dogs that they had for wintertime transportation.

Could you expand on how important the hunting is, and lifestyle,
in the community up there? I also did take the time to go to a gro‐
cery store when I was up there, and I was astounded at the prices.
Perhaps you can expand on that a little bit, please, sir.

Hon. Joe Savikataaq: I'd like to thank you for coming to
Nunavut. I encourage everyone who is here listening across the
country and our nation to come see our beautiful territory.

Hunting is so important. Like I said, we are so isolated. There are
no roads connecting us. Everything is really expensive, and it's fly-
in only. Prices are expensive. We get some subsidies on certain
types of food. However, the main staple of our diet is country food,
which comes from the land and from the water. That is very impor‐
tant to provide for people who are barely getting by. Many har‐
vesters appear to help others in need. They go out for them. They
get the food for them, and they deliver it to them, right to the house
of the elders or anyone who might be...like a single mom or a single
dad raising children.

In that way, that's very important. It really helps. It's very healthy
food, all the country food that we get from using these firearms to
provide for everyone and for food security, which is quite a serious
issue up here in Nunavut.

Thank you.
● (1040)

The Chair: Thank you, sir.

Thank you, Mr. Shipley.

We will now go to Mr. Noormohamed.

Go ahead, please, sir. You have two minutes.
Mr. Taleeb Noormohamed (Vancouver Granville, Lib.):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First of all, Dr. Ahmed, thank you for what you do not just in
your advocacy work but also as a physician.

I want to clear something up: There was some attempt to imply
that, because you've met with the government, somehow you have
undue influence over us, or we have undue influence over you. I
think it's also important to note that members of the opposition—
many of whom will make these claims—have met with the gun lob‐
by numerous times in the last few months. This is an important
point for us to make.

I want to clarify a couple of things.

Do you get paid to do the advocacy work you do?
Dr. Najma Ahmed: Thanks for the question.

No, none of us receives any salary or in-kind support for the
work we do.

Mr. Taleeb Noormohamed: Why would you do this, then? Why
put yourself through this?

Dr. Najma Ahmed: Part of being a complete physician is advo‐
cating for the communities we serve. I'm a trauma surgeon. Many
of the patients I primarily treat in my trauma practice are injured by
gun violence. The overwhelming scientific evidence shows that a
multipronged approach is required, including legislative action.

I am not the only one. Our organization has over 1,000 members.
Our position statement is endorsed by 16 medical organizations,
nursing groups and women's groups, all of which believe in the
work we're doing. They comprise tens of thousands of members
who also advocate for the health of the patients they serve.
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Mr. Taleeb Noormohamed: Thank you very much.

I hope my colleagues across the way heard your answer, because
it's a very powerful testament to the important work you all do.

I want to thank you for taking the time to do what you do and to
care for patients. I can't imagine the impact that work has on all of
you. Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Noormohamed.
[Translation]

It is now Ms. Michaud's turn.

Ms. Michaud, you have two minutes.
Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Dr. Kortbeet, I would like to ask you a question in closing.

In the open letter that you published with some of your col‐
leagues last December, you indicated that it is quite possible to
have legislation similar to Bill C‑21 while preserving hunting prac‐
tices.

You mentioned other countries where this works quite well, in‐
cluding Australia, New Zealand, Norway, the United Kingdom and
many others. That seems to be a desired and desirable compromise.

One of the biggest concerns people have about the G‑4 and G‑46
amendments is that they will no longer be able to hunt, which is not
necessarily true.

Can you tell us a bit more about what you learned about the leg‐
islation in other countries?
[English]

Dr. John B. Kortbeek: The best-publicized one is probably the
Firearms Act passed in Australia after the Port Arthur massacre. It
restricts handguns and requires a reason to purchase them—target-
shooting or some other rationale. They also have to go through
training and use a borrowed gun at a gun club for six months prior
to being issued their own firearm. They have to show continued ac‐
tive participation in a gun club to use the firearm. That is one ap‐
proach. They banned semi-automatic weapons with large-capacity
magazines, but they still have an active hunting culture, just as
Canada does.

The U.K. went further. They banned handguns. They have an in‐
cidence of firearm homicides and admissions that's probably
one-10th of ours. They took a different approach.

Ultimately, in public health, the solutions suggested need to be
evidence-based, and those that are accepted need to be acceptable
to the public. They have to be economically viable and feasible.
They have to be legislative efforts the political parties can support,
which is the exercise we're going through, right now.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, ma'am.
[English]

Dr. John B. Kortbeek: Thanks.
The Chair: We'll now go to Mr. MacGregor.

Mr. MacGregor, please bring us home. You have two minutes.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Savikataaq, maybe I'll direct my last question to you. It's ob‐
vious that the firearms issue in Canada brings forward strong emo‐
tions on both sides. We're a very regional country. The situations in
our urban centres are quite different from those in our rural areas.
Both of course do suffer from instances of firearms crime. I think
ultimately every member at this table is trying to find a way for‐
ward. Everyone wants to have safer communities, and we also want
to respect legal firearms ownership. You bring this important per‐
spective from indigenous communities.

Perhaps you might want to offer your final thoughts. You've
heard the concerns from people regarding firearms violence. What's
your message to other parts of Canada and to the Government of
Canada? Do you have any perspectives on a way forward that bal‐
ances that need for public safety while respecting the rights of in‐
digenous communities and hunters in your territory? Do you have
any thoughts on what the best way forward in tackling this very big
issue might be?

● (1045)

Hon. Joe Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. MacGregor.

I respect everyone's views and stance and thoughts, but it's very
easy for someone who is living down south in the urban area where
they're connected to highways and grocery stores and everything to
just pick up food. They don't need firearms and have no use for
them. We're in a different world up here, in which we depend on
firearms. That's how we get food. It's almost equivalent to your go‐
ing to a grocery store to get what you need to survive. A firearm
provides that for us, and it's so important for us to keep doing that.

Definitely there could be common ground that we could agree on
to move forward, but not in a sneaky way. If something comes up
again, go to the north, to Nunavut and all the territories and tell all
the aboriginal people which firearms are going to be affected. If
there is a common one, tell them it will be affected, because right
now, with the writing on certain firearms, there are even single-shot
firearms and shotguns with removable magazines on there. This
will impact too many people. I fully understand where everyone is
coming from, but the Government of Canada should keep in mind
that we should be consulted if we're going to be affected, because
with this we are the most impacted ones in this country.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savikataaq. You had the last word
on this panel, and rightly so.

Thank you, Mr. MacGregor.

With that, this panel is wrapped up.
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To all of the witnesses, thank you for your participation today
and for sharing with us your time and your expertise. It is most
helpful to us.

As a video participant in this particular meeting, I'm also fully
aware of the interpretation staff. I would like to acknowledge them.

They are so often unsung, but they're always there in the back‐
ground helping us out. As the chair, I apologize for not muting my
microphone quite quickly enough. Thank you all.

Thank you to everyone for being here. With that, we are now ad‐
journed.
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